FILED
MAR - 6 2013

No. 12-108792-A

CAROL G. GREEN CLERK OF APPELLATE COURTS

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS
Plaintiff-Appellee

VS.

CATHY L. HENDRY
Defendant-Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the District Court of Franklin County, Kansas Honorable Thomas H. Sachse, Judge District Court Case No. 12 CR 21

> Deborah Hughes, #14102 Kansas Appellate Defender Office Jayhawk Tower 700 Jackson, Suite 900 Topeka, Kansas 66603 (785) 296-5484 Attorney for the Appellant

Nature of the Case

A jury convicted Cathy L. Hendry of one count of attempted first-degree murder, a severity level one person felony. (R. I, 43; X, 610.) The district court granted Ms. Hendry's motion for downward durational departure and sentenced her to forty-one months in prison. (R. I, 84; X, 33.) The district court also required Ms. Hendry to register as an offender pursuant to the Kansas Offender Registration Act. (R. I, 95-96; X, 35-37.) Ms. Hendry timely appealed. (R. I, 97).

Statement of the Issues

- Issue 1: There was insufficient evidence of an overt act to support the conviction of attempted first-degree premeditated murder.
- Issue 2: The district court erred in denying Ms. Hendry's motion for mistrial after a prospective juror's answers during jury selection revealed that Ms. Hendry was in custody.
- Issue 3: The district court violated Ms. Hendry's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights under *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000), when it increased her punishment by requiring her to register as an offender.

Statement of Facts

The breakup of Cathy Hendry and Joseph Soppe's romantic relationship led to the events that resulted in the State charging Ms. Hendry with the attempted first-degree premeditated murder of Soppe. Ms. Hendry met Soppe in September, 2011, and the relationship quickly became serious. (R. IX, 257.) Ms. Hendry believed she had found the love of her life in Soppe. (R. X, 420.) The feeling was mutual; Soppe was planning a future together with Ms. Hendry and had brought up the subject of marriage. (R. IX 258.) In fact, he had found an engagement ring for her and was making payments on it. (R. IX, 257; X, 432.) Soppe was staying over at Ms. Hendry's home most of the time and had

moved many of his things into her home. (R. IX, 256; X, 427.) Soppe's daughter stayed with him at Ms. Hendry's home on the weekends. (R. X, 428.) Ms. Hendry's children became close with Soppe, and he had even discussed adopting Ms. Hendry's daughter. (R. IX, 257; X, 419, 424-25.)

Suddenly, things changed. On January 15, 2012, Ms. Hendry came home from church to find that Soppe had removed most of his belongings from her home, leaving his key to the house and a short note. (R. X, 431.)

After several efforts to get in touch with Soppe to find out what had happened, she went to his house. (R. X, 432-33.) They talked and Soppe reassured her that she did not have to worry, that he was never going to leave her. (R. X, 436.) Soppe explained that he had become concerned that living together was not consistent with his Christian principles. (R. IX, 262; X, 436.) Ms. Hendry admitted she had felt the same way. (R. IX, 262; X, 436.) Ms. Hendry left Soppe's house that day with the impression that things would work out. (R. IX, 261-62; X, 436.)

Over the next ten days, the couple saw each other and talked on the phone several times. At times, Ms. Hendry felt happy and reassured that everything was okay; other times, she felt him pulling away. (R. X, 437-44.) On Tuesday, January 24, Soppe called Ms. Hendry and invited her and her children over to his house for dinner and games the following Sunday. (R. IX, 263; X, 442.) The invitation caused her to feel hopeful for the relationship. (R. X, 443.)

But the next day, Wednesday, January 25, Soppe sent Ms. Hendry a text telling her that God was leading him to reevaluate the relationship. (R. IX, 264.) The pair texted back and forth, with Soppe eventually texting that the relationship was over and that he

wanted to be single. (R. IX, 265; X, 446.)

The next morning, January 26, Soppe sent Ms. Hendry a text asking if he could come over and get his daughter's inflatable bounce house. (R. IX, 199.) He asked her to just set it out in the driveway so he could get it and be gone. (R. IX, 201.)

Ms. Hendry then told her son that she and Soppe had broken up and asked him for a gun. (R. IX, 166.) Ms. Hendry wanted to know if his .20 gauge single shot shotgun worked and he said it did. (R. IX, 161, 168-69.) Ms. Hendry asked for two shells and asked him to show her how to load it, unload it, and shoot it. (R. IX, 169, 175; X, 449.) He showed her that in order to fire the gun, the hammer has to be pulled back before squeezing the trigger. (R. IX, 177.) Ms. Hendry then took the gun to her bedroom and put it behind the door. (R. X, 453.)

After her son and daughter left for school, Ms. Hendry moved the bounce house from the garage to the spare bedroom. (R. X, 453.). She set it down in the back part of the room, next to a plastic bag that contained other items Soppe had left behind. (R. X, 453.)

Soppe arrived and found the bounce house was not out in the driveway. (R. IX, 205.) He texted Ms. Hendry and she came outside through the garage. (R. IX, 207.) They talked in the garage and Soppe told her that the relationship was over. (R. X, 454.) Ms. Hendry told Soppe the bounce house was in the spare bedroom. (R. IX, 211.) Soppe followed Ms. Hendry inside to get the bounce house. (R. IX, 210-11.) When Soppe went into the spare bedroom to retrieve the bounce house, Ms. Hendry went into the master bedroom, directly across from the spare bedroom. (R. IX, 211.)

Soppe was puzzled by the contents of the plastic bag and as he headed out of the spare bedroom to ask Ms. Hendry about it, he saw her heading toward him holding a

shotgun. (R. IX 217.) She was holding it at waist level and had one hand on the guard and a finger on the trigger. (R. IX 218-20, 223, 280.) The gun was not pointed at Soppe; it was pointed up and at a 45 degree angle away from him. (R. IX, 223, 284.)

Soppe's firearms training from his fifteen years in the military kicked in instantly. (R. IX, 221, 255.) He grabbed the gun and pushed Ms. Hendry up against the wall, pinning her with the gun across her chest and the barrel pointed up toward the ceiling. (R. IX, 225, 279; X, 458.) Ms. Hendry fought his attempt to wrest control of the gun. (R. IX, 226.)

He kept her pinned against the wall for about five minutes as he tried to get the gun away from her. (R. IX, 230.) During that time, the only thing Ms. Hendry said was that if she could not have him, she did not want to live. (R. IX, 229.)

According to Soppe, when he grabbed the gun, Ms. Hendry squeezed the trigger; she also squeezed it several more times when she was pinned against the wall. (R. IX, 225, 226-27.) He testified that the gun would not fire because the hammer had not been cocked and when Ms. Hendry realized that, she tried to pull the hammer back. (R. IX, 225.) Ms. Hendry denied squeezing the trigger and trying to pull the hammer back. (R. X, 459.)

Finally, Soppe was able to push the release and pop the barrel, which made the shell fly out of the shotgun. (R. IX, 226.) Soppe then talked Ms. Hendry down and when she stopped struggling, he pulled the gun away from her. (R. IX, 231.) Soppe then went outside with the gun, put it in his car, and locked the car. (R. IX, 233.) Ms. Hendry followed. (R. IX, 234.) While Soppe was trying to call the police, Ms. Hendry repeatedly tried to get into his car, saying she wanted the gun and that she wanted to kill herself. (R.

IX, 240, 289.) Eventually, Soppe was able to push Ms. Hendry away from the car and get in, and drive away. (R. IX, 242.) He pulled over about a mile down the road to wait for the police to arrive. (R. IX 244.)

Ms. Hendry was arrested and charged with one count of attempted first-degree premeditated murder. (R. I, 6.) Her defense at trial was that she did not intend to kill Soppe; rather, her intent was to kill herself in front of him.

Ms. Hendry testified that in the ten days after Soppe moved his belongings out of her home, she felt him pulling away and as a result became increasingly more depressed. (R. X, 444.) In the midst of her depression, she clung to his reassurances and conduct that suggested to her the relationship was not over. (R. X, 436, 439, 442.) She was especially hopeful when he invited her and the children to come over for dinner and to play games. (R. X, 443.) But when he ended the relationship by text the next day, she was devastated. (R. X, 447.) The next morning, when Soppe was texting her about picking up the bounce house, she felt hurt, rejected, and upset over all of the broken promises he had made. (R. X, 449.) That was when she decided to end her life. (R. X, 449.)

Ms. Hendry testified that when her son gave her the shotgun, there was already a shell in the gun, so she asked for another one in case the gun misfired or the first shot did not kill her. (R. X, 451.) She explained that she moved the bounce house inside because she wanted to force a conversation with Soppe. (R. X, 452-53.)

As it turned out, she was able to talk with him in the garage. (R. X, 454.) In that conversation, he made it clear the relationship was over. (R. X, 454.) She led him inside and down the hallway to the spare bedroom. (R. X, 454.) When he went in to get the bounce house, she went into her bedroom and got the gun from behind the door. (R. X,

455.) Her plan was that once he saw her with the gun, she would point it at herself and shoot herself in front of him. (R. X, 455, 460.) She wanted him to feel the hurt and pain she felt. (R. X, 460.)

She never got the chance. As Ms. Hendry stood in the doorway holding the gunnot pointed at Soppe—he rushed towards her, grabbed the gun, and pinned her up against the wall so quickly that she never even got a chance to point the gun at herself. (R. X, 457-58, 490.)

After Soppe got the gun away from her, they talked outside. (R. X, 461.) She tried to get the gun out of the car and asked Soppe, "If you don't care about me why should I live[?]" (R. X, 461.)

Ms. Hendry testified that after Soppe drove away, she regained her senses a little bit and decided to go to the job class she was scheduled to attend at the SRS office in town. (R. X, 462.) She was there when the sheriff's deputy arrived to arrest her. (R. X, 328-330.) When the deputy asked her how she was doing, she replied that she wanted to die. (R. X, 332.)

Ms. Hendry's depression and suicidal state of mind were corroborated by other witnesses. Ms. Hendry's grandmother, who was her confidant throughout the breakup of the relationship, testified to Ms. Hendry's spiraling depression. (R. X, 366, 372-73.) The social worker who did a mental health screening on Ms. Hendry the morning she was arrested reported that she was suicidal and suffering from major depression. (R. X, 379, 384, 402.)

Not only did Ms. Hendry testify she never had any intent to harm Soppe, she also presented character witnesses who knew her well to testify to her non-violent character.

(R. X, 407, 412-13, 460.)

The jury found Ms. Hendry guilty of attempted first-degree premeditated murder. (R. I, 43.) Because Ms. Hendry had no criminal history, the standard presumptive guidelines sentence was 155 months. (R. I, 67.) The district court granted Ms. Hendry's motion for downward durational departure and sentenced her to forty-one months in prison. (R. I, 84.)

Arguments and Authorities

Issue 1: There was insufficient evidence of an overt act to support the conviction of attempted first-degree premeditated murder.

Introduction

To prove that Ms. Hendry committed attempted first-degree premeditated murder, the State had to show beyond a reasonable doubt that Ms. Hendry had both the intent to kill Soppe and that she committed an overt act toward perpetration of that crime.

Although the State can use circumstantial evidence to prove intent to commit even the most serious of crimes, where the State is trying to prove an attempted crime, the weaker the State's evidence of intent, the more strongly corroborative of that intent the overt act must be. Here, the State did not have strong and clear evidence of intent to kill. Ms.

Hendry never made any threats to kill or even hurt Soppe and the evidence showed she never aimed the gun at him. Moreover, there was direct evidence Ms. Hendry had a different intent—to kill herself. In this context, the fact the Ms. Hendry was holding a loaded shotgun with her finger on the trigger at the point of interception is insufficient for a rational jury to conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that she had made an unequivocally direct movement toward committing murder.

Standard of Review

An appellate court considering a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence must determine whether rational jurors could have found the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. McCaslin*, 291 Kan. 697, 710, 245 P.3d 1030 (2011). In its review, the appellate court construes the evidence in a light most favorable to State and does not reweigh the evidence generally or make credibility determinations. *State v. Raskie*, 293 Kan. 906, 919–20, 269 P.3d 1268 (2012).

Argument

"An attempt crime has three essential elements: the intent to commit the crime, an overt act toward the perpetration of the crime, and a failure to consummate the crime." *State v. Wilson*, 30 Kan.App.2d 498, 499-500, 43 P.3d 851 (2002); K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-5301(a) (defining attempt as "any overt act toward the perpetration of a crime done by a person who intends to commit such crime but fails in the perpetration thereof or is prevented or intercepted in executing such crime"). Thus, to find Ms. Hendry guilty, the jury would have had to determine that Ms. Hendry had both the intent to commit the crime of first-degree premeditated murder and that she committed an overt act toward the perpetration of that crime. *State v. Garner*, 237 Kan. 227, 238, 699 P.2d 468 (1985) (to convict a defendant of attempt, the State must show the commission of an overt act plus the actual intent to commit that particular crime).

An overt act "must be either the first or some subsequent step in the direct movement toward the commission of the crime after preparations are made." *State v. Peterman*, 280 Kan. 56, 61, 118 P.3d 1267 (2005). An overt act must "extend beyond mere preparations made by the accused and must sufficiently approach consummation of

the offense to stand either as the first or subsequent step in a direct movement toward the completed offense." *Peterman*, 280 Kan. 56, Syl. ¶ 2. It is clear, however, that it "does not have to be the last proximate act in the consummation of the crime[.]" *Peterman*, 280 Kan. at 61.

It can be difficult to determine the point at which acts in preparation become overt acts:

A problem inherent in the law of attempts concerns the point when criminal liability attaches for the overt act. On the one hand mere acts of preparation are insufficient while, on the other, if the accused has performed the final act necessary for the completion of the crime, he could be prosecuted for the crime intended and not for an attempt. The overt act lies somewhere between these two extremes and each case must depend upon its own particular facts....

State v. Gobin, 216 Kan. 278, 281, 531 P.2d 16 (1975) (quoting comment, PIK Crim. 55.01, p. 105).

The Tenth Circuit has held that an overt act "must be strongly corroborative of the firmness of the defendant's criminal intent and must *unequivocally* mark the defendant's acts as criminal. (Emphasis added.)" *United States v. Ramirez*, 348 F.3d 1175, 1180 (10th Cir. 2003) (quoting *United States v. Smith*, 264 F.3d 1012, 1016 [10th Cir. 2001]). As the Arizona Supreme Court explained, this requirement is necessary to be certain that "the design will be carried into effect if not interrupted":

The fundamental reason [for] the requirement of an overt act is that until such act occurs, there is too much uncertainty that a design is to be apparently carried out. Until that time the situation is equivocal; there is not sufficient certainty that the design will, if not interrupted, be fully completed. When by reason of the conduct of defendant the situation becomes unequivocal and it appears the design will be carried into effect if not interrupted, we have a condition that meets the test of overt acts intended to accomplish the purpose.

State v. Mandel, 78 Ariz. 226, 229, 278 P.2d 413 (1954) (citing People v. Miller, 2 Cal.2d 527, 42 P.2d 308, 98 A.L.R. 913).

It follows, then, that because the overt act serves to corroborate the intent, the stronger and more clear the intent, the farther the overt can be from the last proximate act and still meet that standard. Where there is strong, clear evidence of intent to commit the crime, a more equivocal overt act may be sufficient. See *State v. Mandel*, 78 Ariz. 226, 228, 278 P.2d 413 (1954) ("When an intent is clearly shown, slight acts in furtherance thereof will constitute an attempt"). Conversely, where the evidence of intent is weak, the overt act must be correspondingly closer to the last proximate act.

Of course, intent is a state of mind and therefore "difficult, if not impossible, to show by definite and substantive proof." *State v. Lassley*, 218 Kan. 758, 762, 545 P.2d 383 (1976). The law is clear that "intent may be shown...by acts, circumstances, and inferences reasonably deducible therefore and need not be established by direct proof." *State v. Moody*, 35 Kan.App.2d 547, 555, 132 P.3d 985 (2006) (quoting *State v. Johnson*, 258 Kan. 61, 67, 899 P.2d 1050 [1995]). Moreover, as noted above, the overt act "does not have to be the last proximate act in the consummation of the crime[.]" *Peterman*, 280 Kan. at 61.

The point, however, is that there is necessarily a relationship between the strength of the evidence of intent and the proximity of the overt act toward consummation of the offense. Kansas law implicitly recognizes this, as what constitutes "an overt act is determined *in context*. (Emphasis added.)" *State v. Risinger*, 40 Kan.App.2d 596, 598, 194 P.3d 52 (2008) (whether a defendant has committed an overt act depends upon the particular facts of the case and the reasonable inferences the jury may draw from those

facts).

Here, the State's evidence of intent to kill was neither clear nor strong. Although the State alleged the overt act was the act of "pointing a loaded firearm at . . . Joseph Soppe and then subsequently pulling the trigger on said firearm multiple times while in a physical struggle . . . for control of the firearm," the evidence at trial, however, showed that Ms. Hendry never pointed the gun at Soppe. (R. I, 6; IX, 284, 286-87, 309.) When Ms. Hendry was coming out of her bedroom, she was pointing the gun at a forty-five-degree angle away from Soppe. (R. IX, 284). He then pushed the gun down, grabbed the barrel, and pinned Ms. Hendry against the wall with the shotgun pointing away from them, up toward the ceiling. (R. 286-87).

Not only was there no evidence that Ms. Hendry ever aimed the gun at Soppe, there was also no evidence that Ms. Hendry threatened to kill or even hurt Soppe. (R. IX, 282, 290.) There was never even an argument and they never exchanged hostile words. (R. IX, 217.)

Not only was the State's circumstantial evidence of her intent to kill Soppe weak, but there was direct evidence of a completely different, non-criminal, intent. Ms.

Hendry's statements during and after the events showed that her focus was suicide. And that evidence was strong—Ms. Hendry expressed that intent during the struggle over the gun, said it again twice out in the driveway as she tried to get the gun out of the car, and again when she was arrested. Her statements were enough to cause Soppe to be concerned that she would act on her intent to commit suicide. (R. IX, 291.) And Ms. Hendry's suicidal state-of-mind was corroborated by the social worker who performed a mental health screening on Ms. Hendry when she was booked into jail.

Due process requires the State to prove every element of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970). Under the facts of this case, the weak evidence of intent to kill demands that Ms. Hendry's actions strongly corroborate that intent in order to prove she committed an overt act. Aiming the shotgun at Soppe would have sufficed—a point the State obviously recognized in the complaint when it alleged that Ms. Hendry aimed the shotgun at him. But the State failed to support that allegation at trial. In context, the act of merely holding a loaded shotgun that was not pointed at the alleged victim is not sufficiently proximate to consummation of the alleged crime to prove that Ms. Hendry committed an overt act.

Conclusion

Because no rational juror could have concluded beyond a reasonable doubt that Ms. Hendry had committed an overt act toward the commission of the crime of first-degree murder, this Court should vacate her conviction.

Issue 2: The district court erred in denying Ms. Hendry's motion for mistrial after a prospective juror's answers during jury selection revealed that Ms. Hendry was in custody.

Introduction

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