RECEIVED

JUN 2 8 2013

CAROL G. GREEN CLERK OF APPELLATE COURTS

No. 12-108792-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS
Plaintiff-Appellee

v.

CATHY L. HENDRY Defendant-Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Appeal from the District Court of Franklin County, Kansas Honorable Judge Thomas Sachse, Judge District Court Case No. 12 CR 21

Approved

JUN 2 8 2013

Attorney General of Kansas BY WC S. Ct. Rule 6.10 Matt Franzenburg, #23736
Assistant Franklin County Attorney
Franklin County Attorney's Office
301 S. Main Street
Ottawa, KS 66067
785-229-8970 (V)
785-229-8971 (F)
mfranzenburg@franklincoks.org
Attorney for the Appellee

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

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

at trial, the State contends that find to the contrary would be illogical. The defendant premeditated and had clear intent to kill Joseph Soppe.

ii. Overt acts.

In an attempt case, the State must show that the defendant committed an overt act toward the perpetration of a crime, with the intent to commit such crime, but that the defendant failed in the perpetration thereof or was prevented or intercepted in executing such crime. K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-5301(a). As noted in the defendant's brief, an overt act must be the "first or some subsequent step in the direct movement toward the commission of the crime after preparations are made." *State v. Peterman*, 280 Kan. 56, 61, 118 P.3d 1267 (2005).

Perhaps the strongest overt act was the defendant's action of pulling the trigger four or five times when Soppe was trying to wrestle the gun away from her. (R. Vol. IX, pp. 225-27). Prior to this even occurring, the defendant grabbed the shotgun from behind her bedroom door, with the knowledge that Soppe was mere feet away, across a hallway in the spare bedroom. (R. Vol. X, p. 488). She then leveled the gun in both hands, placed her finger on the trigger, and stepped out from behind her bedroom door. (R. Vol. X, p. 488). The defendant then moved nearer to the location where Soppe was, knowing that he would likely have his back to the door of the spare bedroom.

Before the defendant could reach the spare bedroom, Soppe turned around and was at or near the doorway to the spare bedroom. (R. Vol. X, p. 490). At this point, Soppe saw the gun pointed in his direction; he testified that the defendant held the gun at waist level and initially the weapon was pointed at an angle across his body.

As the defendant came through the doorway of her bedroom and Soppe approached her, the defendant started to move the gun from pointing around his head to pointing at his abdomen. (R. Vol. IX, pp. 223-24).

Only Soppe's actions prevented the defendant from being able to fire the shotgun at him. The defendant admitted that Soppe "came towards [her] very quickly" and pushed her against the wall. (R. Vol. X, pp.490-92). Even at this point, the defendant admitted she had her finger on the trigger. (R. Vol. X, p. 493). It was then that the defendant pulled the trigger of the weapon "maybe four or five" times as Soppe held the defendant against the wall and tried to get the gun from her. (R. Vol. IX, pp. 225-27). Soppe also observed the defendant attempt to pull the hammer back on the shotgun, which was necessary for the gun to fire. (R. Vol. IX, pp. 225, 228).

Thus, once the defendant pulled the trigger multiple times, there can be no question that the defendant had performed a first or subsequent step in the direct movement toward the completion of the crime of murder. Therefore, it was reasonable for the jury to have concluded that the defendant did commit the overt act of pulling the trigger of the shotgun multiple times with the intent to kill Joseph Soppe, but that she was intercepted or prevented from completing the act of killing him. In fact, Joseph Soppe's actions are the only reason the defendant was unable to complete the crime of first degree murder.

The defendant exhibited premeditation, an intent to kill, and she engaged in acts designed to complete the act of murder; when viewed in a light most favorable to the State, the evidence presented at trial easily supports the jury's verdict of guilty. It is important to note that the district judge denied the defendant's motion for directed

verdict in this case, citing K.S.A. 22-3419. (R. Vol. X, p. 363). The trial court found that there was "legally sufficient evidence upon which a reasonable fact finder could conclude guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." (R. Vol. X, p. 363). The district court reiterated at sentencing that "there was [sic] certainly sufficient facts to support the jury verdict in this case." (R. Vol. XI, p. 32). The State urges this Court to find the same.

Issue II: The district court did not abuse its discretion in denying the defendant's motion for a mistrial during voir dire.

A. Standard of Review

Review of a district court's denial of a motion for mistrial is analyzed under an abuse of discretion standard. *State v. Race*, 293 Kan. 69, 80, 259 P.3d 707 (2011). Declaration of a mistrial is a matter entrusted to the trial court's discretion, and the judge's choice will not be set aside without an abuse of that discretion. *State v. Dixon*, 289 Kan. 46, Syl. ¶ 1, 209 P.3d 675 (2009). A party seeking mistrial has the burden to show that they have been substantially prejudiced by the error. *State v. McClanahan*, 259 Kan. 86, 92, 910 P.2d 193 (1996).

B. Analysis

i. There exists no "fundamental failure" in the trial, nor did the trial court abuse its discretion.

A district court abuses its discretion if judicial action is (1) arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, *i.e.*, if no reasonable person would have taken the view adopted by the trial court; (2) is based on an error of law, *i.e.*, if the discretion is guided by an erroneous legal conclusion; or (3) is based on an error of fact, *i.e.*, if substantial competent evidence does not support a factual finding on which a prerequisite

conclusion of law or the exercise of discretion is based. *Race*, 293 Kan. at 80 (citing *State v. Ward*, 292 Kan. 541, 550-51, 256 P.3d 801 (2011)). In applying K.S.A. 22-3423(1)(c), a district court must determine (1) whether there was a fundamental failure of the proceedings; and (2) if so, whether it is possible to continue the trial without an injustice. See *Race*, 293 Kan. at 80.

In the present case, the district judge specifically stated on the record that while the court should not have questioned juror Niccum about his knowledge of the case or his interaction with the defendant, this was not sufficient grounds for a mistrial. The court specifically referred to the mistrial statute and found that the colloquy during voir dire did not constitute prejudicial conduct, in or outside the courtroom, which made it impossible to proceed with trial without injustice to either the defendant or the prosecution. (R. Vol. IX, pp. 248-52); K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 22-3423(1)(c). The court noted on the record that the defendant was in street clothes and she was not in handcuffs. The court further noted that it would be a fair inference, given the severity of the charges, for a prospective juror to assume that the defendant had at some point been arrested and had some interaction with employees of the Franklin County Sheriff's Office. (R. Vol. IX, p. 252). Even assuming that prospective jurors were able to infer that juror Niccum was a jailer and that the defendant was in custody, the district court determined that these facts did not make it impossible for the defendant to get a fair trial. (R. Vol. IX, p. 252).

The district court's conclusion comports with numerous Kansas cases. See *Race*, 293 Kan. at 80, 83-84 (juror saw defendant being transported in handcuffs through courthouse hallway; no abuse of discretion in denying motion for mistrial);

State v. Mayberry, 248 Kan. 369, 380-81, 807 P.2d 86 (1991) overruled on other grounds by State v. Gunby, 282 Kan. 39, 144 P.3d 647 (2006) (prospective juror, through no fault of the State, spoke of prior conviction of defendant in front of jury panel and was excused for cause; no error in denying motion for mistrial on that basis); State v. Baker, 227 Kan. 377, 382-83, 607 P.2d 61 (1980) (juror's reading of newspaper articles pertaining to trial not grounds for mistrial unless articles are of such a character they might result in prejudice to losing party; motion for mistrial properly denied because newspaper articles contained same information provided by trial judge's remarks); State v. McCorgary, 224 Kan. 677, 687, 585 P.2d 1024 (1978) (no error found when prospective juror expressed strong feeling in front of other prospective jurors that what she had read in papers about the case was true; denial of motion for mistrial was proper); State v. Rhodes, 219 Kan. 281, 281-84, 546 P.2d 1396 (1976) (trial court has discretion to grant or deny mistrial; even when juror speaks to a witness, juror misconduct will not constitute grounds for reversal unless it is shown to have substantially prejudiced the rights of the defendant or the prosecution).

The court found on the record that the discussion with juror Niccum was short in duration, that Niccum was excused for cause, and that the discussion had little to no impact upon the rest of the panel members; the court went so far as to say that it was confident that the other panel members were not tainted by the exchange.

(R. Vol. IX, p. 252). To assert, as the defendant does in a conclusory statement in her brief, that the district court found that there was error or a "fundamental failure" in the trial is a clear misstatement of the trial court's statements on the record.

If there is no abuse of discretion by the district court in its conclusion that there was no fundamental failure in the trial, an appellate court will not need to reach the second question of whether prejudice was curable or whether injustice could otherwise be avoided with declaring a mistrial. *Race*, 293 Kan. at 84. Even if this Court finds that there was a fundamental failure, the district court noted on the record that the discussion had little to no impact on the other potential jurors and that it believed the jury pool was not tainted. Even if the exchange were somehow improper, any potential curative measures that the district court may have sought to provide would likely have brought even more attention to Niccum's comments. It is clear that the district court, which was in the best position to determine the impact of juror Niccum's statements, determined that any alleged prejudicial conduct was not so detrimental as to make it impossible for the defendant and the prosecution to obtain a fair trial.

The district judge analyzed uncontroverted facts under the applicable statute and determined that the discussion with juror Niccum did not entitle the defendant to a mistrial. This determination was not arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable; it was not based on an error of law; and it was not based on an error of fact upon which a legal conclusion was based. Accordingly, the court did not abuse its discretion in denying the defendant's motion for a mistrial.

ii. Even if error existed in this case, it was harmless error.

"A claim arising out of a defendant's right to a fair trial is based on the federal constitutional guarantee of due process. We therefore apply the federal constitutional harmless error rule." The party benefiting from the error, in this case,

the State, must prove "beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not [affect substantial rights, meaning it did not] contribute to the verdict obtained."

Race, 293 Kan. at 81-82 (citing Ward, 292 Kan. 568-69 which cited State v. Kleypas, 272 Kan. 894, 1084, 40 P.3d 139 (2001)). Assuming, arguendo, that there was error resulting from the colloquy, it was harmless, even under the constitutional standard.

The defendant in her brief states that juror Niccum's statements made it "obvious that a sheriff's department employee who provides for the 'daily needs' of a defendant involved in a criminal trial is a jailer." Further, the defendant claims that Niccum's statement was in the present tense, indicating that the defendant was currently in custody. The defendant then asserts that this was an error of law. (Appellee's brief, p. 15). In support of this conclusion, the defendant cites *State v. Alexander*, 240 Kan. 273, 275, 729 P.2d 1126 (1986), which held that a jailer's testimony about his observations of the defendant in jail was error, though it was harmless under the facts of the case. The defendant also cites *Ward*, 292 Kan. at 576, in which a witness identified two individuals in the courtroom in jail clothing as the defendant's associates; this was also held to be error because "jail clothing taints a trial...."

The defendant's argument fails for numerous reasons. First, it requires a reviewing court to engage in a leap of logic that a sheriff's department employee who has provided for a defendant's daily needs *must* be a jailer; at no point did juror Niccum mention that he was a jailer or that he had encountered the defendant while she was in custody. A second, and probably larger, leap is required for a potential juror to determine that the defendant was *currently* in custody. The defendant takes

juror Niccum's response out of context of the question propounded by the district court. The court asked Niccum, "have you had any interaction whatsoever with the defendant," to which he responded, "[j]ust interaction as far as providing for her daily needs[.]" (R. Vol. IX, p. 30). The tense used by the court and the response from juror Niccum do not clearly indicate that Niccum was currently providing for the defendant's daily needs.

Additionally, two witnesses testified that the defendant was taken into custody on the day of the incident. One of the defendant's witnesses, Robin Burgess, testified that the defendant was placed under arrest and was in custody, at least on the day of the incident. (R. Vol. X, pp. 404-05). Deputy Fredricks also informed the jury that the defendant was arrested the morning of the incident. (R. Vol. X, p. 333). It does not necessarily automatically follow that the defendant remained in custody at time of trial, approximately three and a half months later. Further, as stated above, the jury panel never saw the defendant in any sort of restraints, and she was always dressed in street clothes in the presence of the jury. After the colloquy with juror Niccum, and his subsequent dismissal for cause, counsel for the State concluded voir dire by asking the panel to wait to form an opinion until all of the evidence and testimony had been presented. (R. Vol. IX, pp. 85-86, 88). Finally, the jury was instructed by the district court that it was required to presume that the defendant was innocent unless the jury was convinced from the evidence that she was guilty. (R. Vol. X, p. 554). Contrary to the defendant's assertion, there was no prejudicial error.

Instead, State v. Davidson, 264 Kan. 44, 954 P.2d 702 (1998), is instructive in several respects. First, as to the standard of harmless error, a "... mere possibility of

prejudice from a remark of the judge is not sufficient to overturn a verdict or judgment." *Id.* at 51. In *Davidson*, the district judge instructed the jury that the defendant was in custody at the time of trial and that he was required to wear a leg brace to prevent any escape attempt. This was held to be error. *Id.* at 51-52. However, the error was harmless because the jury had been instructed on the presumption of innocence, and the jurors all swore an oath to try the case on the law and evidence presented. Further, in *Davidson*, defense counsel notified the jury that the defendant was in custody at the time of trial. *Id.* at 53.

In the present case, at no point was the jury panel informed that the defendant was currently in custody. The defendant was not handcuffed, shackled or forced to wear any sort of brace. The potential information provided to the jury panel was much less than that found in *Davidson*. However, like *Davidson*, the jury was instructed on the presumption of innocence and the jury was sworn to hear the evidence in the case. Also, as in *Davidson*, the jury learned from the defendant's own witness during the trial that she had been placed under arrest and taken into custody on the day of the incident. The alleged error in the present case was much less egregious, if it existed at all, than was the error in *Davidson*, and even in that case, the error was held to be harmless.

Any error "... will be declared harmless if this court concludes beyond a reasonable doubt that the error, in light of the whole record, had no reasonable possibility of changing the result of the trial." *Ward*, 292 Kan. 541, Syl. ¶ 6. Given the incredibly short duration of the colloquy with juror Niccum, the fact that his statements never indicated that the defendant was currently in custody, and the fact

that the defendant was always in street clothes and never handcuffed or shackled, it strains the imagination to conclude that any alleged error had any reasonable possibility of changing the result of the trial.

Issue III: The district court did not violate the defendant's rights under Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000), by requiring her to register as an offender.

A. Standard of Review

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